Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal 31 (2023) 101729

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

Review

Exploring the role of COX-2 in Alzheimer's disease: Potential therapeutic implications of COX-2 inhibitors

Nathalie Moussa^{a,1,*}, Ninar Dayoub^{b,2}

^a Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry and Drug Control, University of Manara, Latakia, Syria
^b Faculty of Pharmacy, University of AL Andalus for Medical Science, Tartus, Syria

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 April 2023 Accepted 28 July 2023 Available online 7 August 2023

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease COX-2 NSAIDs Drug discovery CDK5 Tau phosphorylation

ABSTRACT

This review highlights the potential role of cyclooxygenase-2 enzyme (COX-2) in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and the potential therapeutic use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in the management of AD. In addition to COX-2 enzymes role in inflammation, the formation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in the brain, the review emphasizes that COXs-2 have a crucial role in normal synaptic activity and plasticity, and have a relationship with acetylcholine, tau protein, and beta-amyloid (A β) which are the main causes of Alzheimer's disease. Furthermore, the review points out that COX-2 enzymes have a relationship with kinase enzymes, including Cyclin Dependent Kinase 5 (CDK5) and Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 β (GSK3 β), which are known to play a role in tau phosphorylation and are strongly associated with Alzheimer's disease. Therefore, the use of drugs like NSAIDs may be a hopeful approach for managing AD.

However, results from studies examining the effectiveness of NSAIDs in treating AD have been mixed and further research is needed to fully understand the mechanisms by which COX-2 and NSAIDs may be involved in the development and progression of AD and to identify new therapeutic strategies.

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Cyclooxygenase enzymes	2
3.	Role of neuronal COX expression in Alzheimer's disease	3
4.	COX-2 and Nuclear factor Kappa B (NF-kB)	4
5.	COX-2 and peroxisome Proliferator-Activated receptor gamma (PPAR-γ)	4
6.	COX-2 and the NLRP3 inflammasome	4
7.	COX-2 and acetylcholine	5
8.	COX-2 and beta amyloid	5
9.	COX-2 and tau protein	7
10.	COX-2 and GSK3β.	7
11.	COX-2 and CDK5	8
12.	Role of NSAIDs in the management of AD	8

* Corresponding author.

- ¹ Department of Pharmaceutical chemistry and drug control, Faculty of Pharmacy, Manara University, Latakia, Syria.
- ² Faculty of Pharmacy, AL Andalus University for medical science, Tartus, Syria.

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.

ELSEVIER

Production and hosting by Elsevier

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2023.101729

1319-0164/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).







E-mail addresses: Nathali.moussa@manara.edu.sy (N. Moussa), n.dayoub59@eu.edu.sy (N. Dayoub).

13. Conclusion	9
Author contribution	9
Declaration of Competing Interest	9
Acknowledgment	9
References	9

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a progressive and debilitating neurodegenerative disease that affects millions of people worldwide. It is characterized by a gradual deterioration of cognitive function, leading to memory loss, confusion, and difficulty in performing daily tasks. AD usually develops in people over the age of 65, but it can also occur in younger individuals (https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/alzheimers-disease-fact-sheet). The disease is caused by the accumulation of abnormal proteins, such as amyloid plaques and tau tangles, in the brain which leads to the loss of connections between nerve cells and brain tissue. This process is irreversible and leads to a decline in cognitive function, ultimately resulting in dementia. AD is one of the most common causes of dementia and it is a significant public health concern (Breijyeh et al.,2020; McGirr et al., 2020; Scheltens et al., 2021).

Alzheimer's disease is a very complex disease with multiple causes and hypotheses. A β plaques and tau tangles are considered to be key pathological factors of AD. A β plaques are composed of aggregated amyloid- β protein, which is believed to play a role in the death of neurons and synapses. Tau tangles, on the other hand, are composed of hyperphosphorylated tau protein, which disrupts the normal function of microtubules in neurons and causes neuronal loss. In addition to these features, AD is also associated with inflammation, synaptic and neuronal loss, loss of cholinergic neurons, and other factors (Xuereb et al.,1991; Gerakis and Hetz, 2017; Gendron and Petrucelli, 2009; Lu, 1999; Iqbal et al., 2010).

Tau is a microtubule-associated protein that plays an important role in the stability and modulation of internal microtubules in the brain. In healthy individuals, the phosphorylation of tau protein is regulated by a balance between the activities of tau kinases and tau phosphatases. However, in the brains of people with AD, tau becomes hyperphosphorylated, which means that the protein detaches from microtubules and clings to other tau molecules forming fibers that accumulate as neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Umeda et al., 2014; Hurtado et al., 2010; Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011).

The formation of NFTs is thought to be caused by an imbalance between kinases and phosphatases in the brain. Kinases are enzymes that add a phosphate group to a protein, while phosphatases are enzymes that remove a phosphate group from a protein. In AD, there is an overactivity of kinases, particularly GSK3ß and CDK5, which leads to the abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau protein and the formation of NFTs (Wainaina et al., 2014; Miao et al., 2019; Noble et al., 2003).

GSK3ß and CDK5 are important tau protein kinases that are known to be involved in the pathogenesis of AD. GSK3ß is a protein kinase that plays an important role in several aspects of neuronal function and is known to be involved in the formation of NFTs. CDK5, on the other hand, is a protein kinase that plays a critical role in normal development of the central nervous system and is also known to contribute to the formation of NFTs (Flaherty et al., 2000; Braithwaite et al.,2012; Hossain et al.,2019).

Therefore, the inhibition of these enzymes is an auspicious therapeutic plan for managing AD by reducing the formation of NFTs and slowing the progression of the disease.

Recent research has focused on targeting tau accumulation because of the strong association with symptoms of memory loss. Studies have shown that tau tangles are closely linked to cognitive decline and dementia in AD, and it is believed that reducing tau accumulation could help slow the progression of the disease and improve symptoms (Ossenkoppele et al., 2022; Takashima, 2009). This is an active area of research, and many researchers are working to develop new therapies that target tau accumulation and its underlying mechanisms (Du et al., 2018; Maass et al., 2018).

It's worth noting that AD is a multifactorial disease and targeting one specific pathway or protein may not be the solution for all patients. Therefore, research should continue to explore other potential targets and to develop a combination of therapies that can target multiple pathways (Jack et al., 2018; Herrmann et al., 2011).

COX-2, a key enzyme in the production of proinflammatory molecules, has been found to play a significant role in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD). Studies have shown that COX-2 overexpression leads to tau hyperphosphorylation and the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (Guan et al., 2019; Guan and Wang, 2019; Zhang and Jiang, 2015). Additionally, research has revealed that COX-2 is involved in the regulation of kinases and phosphatases, which are essential for maintaining the balance between tau phosphorylation and dephosphorylation (Arnaud et al., 2006; Duan et al., 2014). This imbalance between kinases and phosphatases is thought to be a major contributor to tau hyperphosphorylation and the formation of NFTs (Liu et al., 2015; Rahman et al., 2005; Kumar et al., 2014).

Furthermore, studies have revealed a link between neuroinflammation and AD, with activated microglia producing proinflammatory molecules that contribute to the progression of the disease (Cao et al., 2019; Onyango et al., 2021; Webers et al., 2020).

Given the strong association between COX-2, tau phosphorylation, and neuroinflammation in AD, non-selective and COX-2 selective inhibitors are being investigated as potential therapeutic agents for managing AD. However, some studies have found that these drugs may not be effective in slowing the progression of the disease, raising questions about the potential explanations for their failure and the timing of treatment. Nevertheless, further research is needed to fully understand the potential of these drugs as therapeutic agents for managing AD (Jope et al., 2007; Wilkaniec et al., 2018).

In this review, we aim to clarify the role of cox-2 enzyme in some Alzheimer's hypotheses and the beneficial effects of using non-selective and COX-2 selective inhibitors as promising therapeutic agents to slow down the progression of AD or mild cognitive dementia.

2. Cyclooxygenase enzymes

Prostaglandin (PG) G/H synthase or most commonly referred to as Cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes are a group of enzymes that convert arachidonic acid to eicosanoids which are mediators that serve important functions in normal physiology and also have a role in pathological conditions (Ali et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2021). This process begins with the release of a poly unsaturated fatty acid processing 20 carbon atoms called arachidonic acid (AA) (Tallima and El Ridi, 2018) present in the phospholipids of cell membrane by the action of the enzyme phospholipase A2 (PLA2), AA is converted by the COX enzymes to PGG2 and PGH2 (Wang et al., 2021), PGH2 is converted to different prostanoids species which are a subclass of eicosanoids such as prostacyclin (PGI2), prostaglandin D2 (PGD2), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), prostaglandin $F2\alpha$ (PGF2 α) and thromboxane A2 (TXA2) (Mitchell and Kirkby, 2019), COX enzymes comprise COX-1 and COX-2 isoforms, COX-1 is the constitutive form of the enzyme, is expressed under normal physiological conditions and is found in such tissues as the kidney, on the other hand, COX-2 is the inducible form of the enzyme, is expressed in response to inflammatory stimuli, while COX-3 which is made from the COX-1 gene has been detected in human cerebral cortex (Gunaydin and Bilge, 2018), as a result, COX-2 is considered as an important therapeutic target to reduce inflammation in various diseases, including Alzheimer's Disease (AD) (Biringer et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2022; Tyagi et al., 2020). Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) can block incipient inflammationdriven AD pathogenesis by inhibiting the activity of COX enzymes. leading to a reduction in the secretion of prostaglandins and inflammation (Maccioni et al., 2020; Woodling et al., 2016).

Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) enzyme inhibitors have not eliminated the necessity for developed drugs in both the fields of synthesis and drug design methods. Many series of novel molecules have been reported as selective COX-2 inhibitors and still being reported to these days. The researchers have always stated that COX-2 inhibitors are needed not only in the non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) area but also in other therapeutic applications, including prevention of cancer and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Abdellatif et al., 2022; Ayman et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Kumar et al., 2023; Moussa et al., 2021).

There are a number of reasons why researchers may be interested in synthesizing new COX-2 inhibitors for AD. First, as previously discussed, COX-2 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of AD and has been shown to be upregulated in the brains of AD patients (Yang et al., 2019; Tyagi et al., 2020). Second, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which are known inhibitors of COX enzymes, have been shown to have beneficial effects in the management of AD (Villareio-Galende et al., 2020: Meyer et al., 2019: Fang et al., 2022: Benito-León et al., 2019). Third, the failure of some COX-2 inhibitors in clinical trials for AD may be due to their selectivity for COX-2 over COX-1, and so, new non-selective COX inhibitors or COX-2 inhibitors with different mechanisms of action may be more effective (Scharf et al., 1999; Imbimbo, 2009). Finally, new COX-2 inhibitors may have improved pharmacological properties, such as improved solubility or bioavailability, which would increase their efficacy and safety. Therefore, research in this area aims to improve the current COX-2 inhibitors, or develop new compounds that interact with different mechanisms (McGeer et al., 1996). Overall, COX-2 inhibitors reduce inflammation and prevent the progression of AD.

3. Role of neuronal COX expression in Alzheimer's disease

The potential role of cyclooxygenase enzymes gained one of the highest scientific interests in the research field since it was suggested that COX may exist at a crossroad of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. COX-2 is generally considered inducible and is significantly involved in the brain inflammation (Zarghi and Arfaei, 2011; Jung et al., 2019). As it has been shown that COX-2 is induced by variety of inflammatory mediators including cytokines, IL-1, IL-2 and TNF- α (Tyagi et al., 2020; Belvisi et al., 1997). COX-2 is also constitutively expressed in distinct regions of the brain, including the neocortex (Hoozemans et al., 2008) and the hippocampus which is divided into dentate gyrus, CA1, CA2, CA3, and subiculum (Kendall et al., 1991). The dentate gyrus plays an essential role in the formation of hippocampal memory

(Hainmueller and Bartos, 2020). the results of the present study suggest that COX–2 serves an important role in synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus and changes in the levels of its constitutive expression are associated with the hippocampal dentate gyrus postnatal development (Jung et al., 2019). The inducible form of COX (COX-2) may be involved in neuroinflammatory and neurode-generative conditions. COX-2 has been found to increase the production of proinflammatory molecules, such as interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha), which can contribute to the development of neuroinflammation and further neuronal damage (Rubio-Perez and Morillas-Ruiz, 2012). Therefore, a lot of work has been dedicated to studying the role of this enzyme in neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's (López and Ballaz, 2020).

A study has been showed that the activity of COX-2 in the hippocampus serves an important role in learning and memory functions (Minghetti, 2004). Some studies found that overexpression of COX-2 correlated with impairment of spatial memory, which is one of the main symptoms of Alzheimer's disease (Woodling et al., 2016; Minghetti, 2007).

According to many in Virto and in vivo studies, COX-2 is expressed under normal physiological conditions such as synaptic activity and plasticity (Tyagi et al., 2020) which controls how two neurons make new communications with each other (Rendeiro and Rhodes, 2021). The induction of neuronal COX-2 is increased upon synaptic activity, it is also induced in glial cells during inflammatory process and is expressed under normal conditions in hippocampal neurons including tri-synaptic loop, notably in layers II/III of entorhinal cortex, the dentate granule cell layer, and CA3-CA1 neurons (brain regions affected at early stages of Alzheimer's disease) (Woodling et al., 2016; Kawaguchi et al., 2005). Many studies reported that COX-2 expression is induced in both astroglia (López and Ballaz, 2020) and microglia which have an essential role in number of functions such as homeostasis and controlling neuronal functions (Tyagi et al., 2020; Leng and Edison, 2021). Therefore, it was suggested that COX-2 expression leads to an activation of microglia or astroglia which correlates with disease development (Guan and Wang, 2019; Wang et al., 2014). When microglial cells are activated, the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines including TNF- α and IL-1 β , increases leading to a neuroinflammatory response (López and Ballaz, 2020). The activation of microglial cells is also associated with the release of microsomal PGE synthase (mPGES)-1 (Nagano et al., 2021) which is an inducible enzyme involved in the synthesis of prostaglandins E2 (PGE₂) leading to neurodegenerative diseases (Chini et al., 2020; Iwata et al., 2021). Fig. 1 illustrates the relationship between COX-2 and neuroinflammation.

The expression of COX varies according to the different stages of AD, during the early phase of the disease, neuronal COX-2 expression is increased (Tyagi et al., 2020) causing aberrant hippocampal synaptic activity and neuronal death (Hoozemans et al., 2008; Yermakova et al., 2001). Other studies confirmed that high levels of COX-2 in some hippocampal neurons are correlated with the development of AD (Ho et al., 2001), but for the later stages of AD, immunostaining of post-mortem AD brains revealed that COX-2 positive neurons decrease as the disease progresses (Biringer et al., 2019; López and Ballaz, 2020). This suggests that COX-2 may play a role in the early stages of AD and could also indicate that COX-2 inhibitors may be more effective in the early stages of AD, rather than in later stages. Additionally, the decrease in COX-2 positive neurons in later stages of AD could also suggest that other mechanisms and enzymes may be involved in the progression of the disease (Woodling et al., 2016; Hoozemans et al., 2008). However, more research is needed to study the role of COX-2 in the different stages of AD, and to determine the optimal timing for treatment with COX-2 inhibitors.



Fig. 1. Role of COX-2 enzyme in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration associated with Alzheimer's Disease.

In addition to COX-2 involvement in AD, there is strong evidence from preclinical and postmortem studies to indicate that COX-1 also has a role in AD (Cui et al., 2004), in both early and later stages of AD, COX-1 Immunostaining obtained from both AD and control brain tissue found that microglia express COX-1 in AD and control brains (Biringer et al., 2019; Yermakova et al., 1999). COX-1 has a prominent role in the neuroinflammatory cascade because of the observed increase of COX-1 activity in microglial cells (Shukuri et al., 2016). Selective COX-1 inhibition reduces neuroinflammation and improves cognitive function in mice (Choi et al., 2013). COX-3 may also be involved in AD. COX-3 is expressed in the same affected brain areas of Alzheimer's (Cuo et al., 2004). These findings are indicative of the potential contributions of cyclooxygenase enzymes to neuroinflammation-induced cognitive impairment (Choi et al., 2013).

It is worth noting that COX-2 inhibitors are not without potential side effects, as some studies have shown that long-term use of COX-2 inhibitors may increase the risk of cardiovascular events such as heart attack and stroke (Das, 2005; Patrono, 2016). Also, COX-2 inhibitors have been shown to have a negative impact on bone health, leading to an increased risk of fractures. However, these risks must be balanced with the potential benefits of COX-2 inhibitors in managing neurodegenerative diseases such as AD. Moreover, there is a need for more research in this field to examine the specific mechanisms of action of COX-2 inhibitors and other NSAIDs in AD, as well as to identify the most appropriate patients for treatment with these drugs. Additionally, we need to develop new COX-2 inhibitors with fewer side effects and to investigate the potential benefits of targeting other COX enzymes such as COX-1 and COX-3 in the management of AD.

4. COX-2 and Nuclear factor Kappa B (NF-kB)

One more protein that has been studied in relation to COX-2 in AD is Nuclear Factor Kappa B (NF-kB). It is a transcription factor that is activated by pro-inflammatory cytokines and is involved in the regulation of the expression of genes related to inflammation, including COX-2. Studies have shown that the activation of NF-kB may contribute to the development of AD by increasing the expression of COX-2 in microglia, leading to increased production of proinflammatory molecules that exacerbate the neuroinflammatory response in AD (Fig. 2) (Amor et al., 2010; Shabab et al., 2017).

5. COX-2 and peroxisome Proliferator-Activated receptor gamma (PPAR-γ)

Another protein that has been studied in relation to COX-2 in AD is Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (PPAR- γ). PPAR- γ is a nuclear receptor that plays a role in the regulation of inflammation and has been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects through the inhibition of COX-2 expression (Du et al., 2011). Studies have suggested that PPAR- γ agonists may have therapeutic potential in AD by reducing the expression of COX-2 and decreasing the neuroinflammatory response (Chen et al., 2012; Bordet et al., 2006; Kapadia et al., 2008; Lastra et al., 2004).

Epidemiological studies indicate that patients with a history using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID, COX1/2 inhibitor, and PPAR γ agonist) have decreased risk for neurodegeneration, such as AD (Fig. 2).

6. COX-2 and the NLRP3 inflammasome

The NLRP3 inflammasome is a protein complex that plays a key role in the inflammatory response (Im and Ammit, 2014). It is activated by a wide range of different stimuli, including bacterial and viral infections (Swanson et al., 2019), as well as damage to cells and the accumulation of certain proteins or molecules (Huang et al., 2021). Once activated, the NLRP3 inflammasome activates caspase-1, which in turn leads to the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. These cytokines play a critical role in the body's immune response to infection and injury, (Swanson et al., 2019) but their overproduction has been linked to a number of diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, obesity, and type 2 diabetes (Tan et al., 2013).

There is a relationship between the NLRP3 inflammasome and COX-2 (cyclooxygenase-2) in the context of inflammation. COX-2 is an enzyme that catalyzes the production of prostaglandins, which are important mediators of inflammation. Studies have shown that the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome can lead to the increased expression of COX-2, which in turn leads to an increase in prostaglandin production. This results in an amplification of the inflammatory response (Hua et al., 2015).

Furthermore, inhibition of COX-2 has been shown to reduce the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and its downstream cytokines. Some studies have reported that non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as flufenamic acid, meclofenamic acid, mefenamic acid, ibuprofen and celecoxib (Hua et al., 2015) can reduce the activation of the inflammasome and the production of its downstream cytokines, which may be beneficial in conditions characterized by chronic inflammation (Daniels et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2020).

Celecoxib, on the other hand, is a non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) that specifically targets the COX-2 enzyme.

In other words, there is a relationship between the NLRP3 inflammasome, COX-2, and Alzheimer's disease (AD). The NLRP3 inflammasome and its downstream cytokines are activated in the brains of AD patients, and that this activation may contribute to the inflammation and neuronal damage observed in AD. The inhibition of COX-2 can reduce the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and the production of its downstream cytokines. This suggests that targeting the NLRP3 inflammasome and COX-2 may be a potential therapeutic plan for treating neuroinflammation and slowing the progression of AD.



Fig. 2. Nuclear Factor Kappa B (NF-kB) activation increases COX-2 expression in microglia which results in increased neuroinflammatory response, while PPAR-γ activation via PPAR-γ agonists reduces COX-2 expression and decreases the inflammatory response, the NLRP3 inflammasome activates caspase-1, which in turn leads to induced COX-2 expression and eventually AD.

In summary, the COX-2 enzyme plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. It has been shown to be involved in learning and memory functions in the hippocampus, which is one of the main areas affected in AD. Overexpression of COX-2 has been correlated with impairment of spatial memory and is expressed under normal physiological conditions in the brain. However, it is also induced by inflammatory stimuli and is found to be elevated in microglial and astroglial cells. The activation of these cells leads to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which contribute to the neuroinflammatory response seen in AD. Studies have also shown that COX-2 expression varies according to the different stages of AD, with high levels being present in the early stages but decreasing as the disease progresses.

7. COX-2 and acetylcholine

Acetylcholine (ACh) is a neurotransmmiter that plays a vital role in many aspects of brain function such as learning and memory (Chen et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2017), Ach is synthesized at nerve terminals from choline (Ch) and acetyl coenzyme A (Acetyl-CoA) by the action of the enzyme choline acetyltransferase (Liu et al., 2017) and hydrolyzed rapidly by the enzyme acetylcholinesterase (AChE) (Beckmann et al., 2013). This chemical messenger alters neuronal excitability (Wang et al., 2021), regulates the synaptic activity (Colangelo et al., 2019) and helps to send messages between some neurons (Sam and Bordoni, 2022). ACh deficiency has been linked to AD pathology. Recent studies showed that low levels of ACh as a result of gradual death of cholinergic neurons led to severe loss of cognitive function in affected patients (Chen et al., 2022). As well as, significant reduction in both (Stepanichev et al., 2017) and AChE activity was also observed in the brains of AD patients (Campanari et al., 2016), hence, the cholinergic hypothesis has arisen (Chen et al., 2022), and number of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs) such as donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine are used as therapeutic agents to increase ACh concentrations in the brain and improve memory (Vecchio et al., 2021).

A study found that AChEIs not only increase brain ACh levels, but can also reduce the inflammatory response which plays a pivotal role in AD by lowering the secretion of pro-inflammatory molecules like PGE2 and TXB2 and the expression of both enzymes COX-1 and COX-2. Which means that this class of drugs have anti-inflammatory properties (Goschorska et al., 2018).

Previous studies have shown that acetylcholine can modulate the activity of the COX-2 enzyme. In particular, research has found that acetylcholine can inhibit the activity of COX-2, thereby reducing the production of prostaglandins and the associated inflammation. This mechanism may be involved in the anti-inflammatory effects of acetylcholine, which have been observed in various conditions such as osteoarthritis and Alzheimer's disease (Goschorska et al., 2018). Additionally, studies suggest that COX-2 inhibitors may enhance the effects of acetylcholine by increasing its availability in the brain (Scali et al., 2003).

Donepezil is a medication used in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and is classified as an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor (AChEI). Both in vitro and in vivo studies have shown that Donepezil can reduce the expression of COX-2 and microglial activation in AD brains. This suggests that the drug may have anti-inflammatory effects in addition to its primary mechanism of action as an AChEI (Kim et al., 2021). On the other hand, recent studies have shown that celecoxib can also inhibit AChE (Gaur & Kumar, 2011) and this has been demonstrated through molecular docking studies, which showed an interaction between celecoxib and amino acid residues at the active site of AChE enzyme. This suggests that celecoxib may have dual action, as it acts as an AChE inhibitor and a COX-2 inhibitor (Pohanka, 2017). By targeting both COX-2 and AChE, celecoxib may have the potential to provide a more comprehensive approach to treating the disease. The dual action of celecoxib may have implications for the treatment of AD. The relationship between ACh, COX-2, and inflammation as well as the pathology of AD has summarized in Fig. 3.

8. COX-2 and beta amyloid

The amyloid hypothesis describes beta amyloid (A β) deposits in the brain to be one of the main pathological hallmarks in AD (Soria Lopez et al., 2019).



Fig. 3. Summary of the relationship among ACh, COX-2, Inflammation and AD pathology.

A β is a peptide (Dinkel et al., 2020) that is derived from the amyloid precursor protein (APP) through sequential cleavage by β -secretase and γ -secretase (Chen et al., 2017). The resulting peptide can vary in length, with the most common forms being A β 40 and A β 42, which are 40 and 42 amino acids in length, respectively. These peptides can aggregate to form amyloid plaques, which are a mark of Alzheimer's disease (Hampel et al., 2021; Dehury et al., 2019).

APP undergoes sequential cleavage by β -secretase and γ -secretase along two distinct pathways (Chen et al., 2017). The amyloidogenic pathway that leads to the formation of Amyloid Beta (A β) by β - and γ -secretases. APP is first cleaved by β -secretase (BACE1) to generate soluble APP β (sAPP β) and the membranebound C99 (Hampel et al., 2021) which is cleaved by γ -secretase leading to the secretion of A β (Dehury et al., 2019).

The second one is the non-amyloidogenic pathway in which APP is cleaved by α -secretase resulting in soluble APP α (sAPP α) (Wang and Qu, 2016) and a membrane-bound C83 which is also cleaved by γ -secretase (Hur, 2022). An imbalance in the levels of A β can lead to the A β aggregation of the peptide into amyloid plaques. These plaques are found in the brain, and can cause neurotoxicity, brain inflammation (Soria Lopez et al., 2019) and disrupt nerve cell connections https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/what-happens-brain-alzheimers-disease, leading to cognitive decline and memory loss.

It's important to note that the exact mechanisms by which amyloid plaques cause neurotoxicity are still under investigation and the relationship between A β aggregation and the onset of Alzheimer's disease is complex and still not fully understood. Current research is focused on understanding the underlying causes and mechanisms of A β aggregation and developing potential therapies to target this process in order to slow or stop the progression of the disease.

A number of studies in transgenic mice have found that overexpression of the COX-2 enzyme leads to accumulation of betaamyloid (A β) in amyloid plaques in the cerebellum, a region of the brain involved in motor coordination and cognitive function. This accumulation of A β plaques in the cerebellum has been associated with cognitive deficits in these mice (Guan et al., 2019; Guan and Wang, 2019; Xiang et al., 2002).

Additionally, a number of studies have found increased COX-2 immunoreactivity in the brains of Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients, and that this increased COX-2 immunoreactivity is related to the number of amyloid plaques in the brain (Hoozemans et al., 2008; Kadoyama et al., 2002; Hwang et al., 2002).

Studies have shown that hippocampal COX-2 expression may have an effect on the cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by influencing gamma-secretase, an enzyme involved in the production of beta-amyloid (A β) peptides (Xiang et al., 2002). COX-2 overexpression in the hippocampus of transgenic mice led to an increase in the production of A β 42, which tends to selfassemble and form aggregates (Soria Lopez et al., 2019; Xiang et al., 2002; Kadoyama et al., 2002; Pogue et al., 2015).

Another study by Weggen et al found that COX-2 inhibition reduced the production of A β 42 and the formation of amyloid plaques in the hippocampus of transgenic mice (Weggen et al., 2001).

In addition to this, metabolic products of COX-2 such as PGE2 have been suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of AD via increasing A β aggregation. Elevated levels of PGE2 in the brains of transgenic mice have been shown to affect both beta- and gamma-secretase, leading to an increase in the production of A β peptides (Guan et al., 2019).

Thromboxane A2 (TXA2), a metabolic product of COX-2, has also been suggested to exacerbate Alzheimer's disease (AD) neuropathology by inducing expression of the APP and beta-amyloid (A β) secretion (Biringer, 2019). These findings suggest that COX-2 and its metabolic products can play a critical role in the production and aggregation of A β in the brain, and may contribute to the development and progression of Alzheimer's disease (Guan et al., 2019; Xiang et al., 2002).

Studies have shown that Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs) have the ability to decrease the levels of $A\beta$ in the brain and inhibit $A\beta$ aggregations.

Data from epidemiological, in silico, and in vivo studies have explained the importance of using NSAIDs to decrease the levels of A β in the brain. Molecular docking studies have predicted the interaction between NSAIDs and A β fibrils, and it has been shown that different NSAIDs have different affinities towards A β fibrils. For example, naproxen has been shown to have a higher affinity towards A β fibrils than ibuprofen (Azam et al., 2017).

In vivo studies have demonstrated that NSAIDs have an effect on gamma-secretase activity and can decrease the amyloid burden by modulating this enzyme. For example, meclofenamic acid and enantiomers of flurbiprofen have been shown to decrease the amyloid burden (Tyagi et al., 2021; Eriksen et al., 2003).

In vitro study has shown that flufenamic acid, mefenamic acid, and meclofenamic acid inhibit IL-1β secretion more effectively

than ibuprofen or celecoxib, and slow cognitive deterioration caused by $A\beta$ in mice. Treatment with diclofenac also reduced $A\beta$ burden (Stuve et al., 2020).

In addition to their inhibition of COX enzymes, NSAIDs activate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) which induces a clearance mechanism for the A β depositions (Sastre et al., 2008; Dhapola et al., 2021). Some NSAIDs have been reported to target APP which has an important role in AD pathology. For example, aspirin, indomethacin and flurbiprofen have been shown to decrease the levels of A β via reducing the activity of NFk β , which is an important mediator of inflammation. (Jaturapatporn et al., 2012; Kinney et al., 2018).

Overall, the relationship between COX-2 and $A\beta$ is complex and COX-2 inhibitors may have potential as a therapeutic drug for Alzheimer's disease.

9. COX-2 and tau protein

Tau is a protein that plays a vital role in the stability and modulation of internal microtubules in the brain (Brotzakis et al., 2021). Microtubules are a component of the cytoskeleton, which are essential for many fundamental cellular processes such as regulating cell growth (Muralidar et al., 2020). The phosphorylation of tau protein is determined by a balance in the activities of both tau kinases and tau phosphatases. However, in the brains of people with Alzheimer's disease (AD), tau becomes hyperphosphorylated, which causes it to detach from microtubules and form fibers that accumulate as neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs). These NFTs are a fundamental neuropathological hallmark of AD (Wang et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2013; Gorantla et al., 2019).

There is a significant amount of evidence demonstrating the critical role of COX-2 in the phosphorylation of tau protein. A study in transgenic mice has shown that metabolic products of COX-2, like PGF2 α , and elevated PGI2 (Wang et al., 2017), induce tau hyperphosphorylation leading to deficits in cognitive function and AD development and progression (Guan and Wang, 2019).

It is believed that overexpression of cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-18, and IL-6 accelerate the phosphorylation of tau, leading to the development of NFTs and impairing the learning ability of mice by inducing the expression of the COX-2 enzyme (Wang et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2013).

Additionally, 15-Deoxy- Δ -12,14-prostaglandin J2 (15d-PGJ2), which is synthesized from PGD2, may contribute to the pathogenesis of AD via exacerbating tau pathology (Guan and Wang, 2019).

In vivo studies have implicated the role of COX-2 expression in reducing the glycosylation of tau protein, which is a post-translational modification leading to the phosphorylation of tau (Guan and Wang, 2019).

Results indicate that calcium ions are associated with tau phosphorylation via inducing COX-2 expression. There is also an extent of colocalization between COX-2 and phosphorylated tau protein in both the brainstem and spinal cord of transgenic mice with AD, as detected by immunofluorescence (Guan and Wang, 2019; Cao et al., 2019).

A study in patients with Fukuyama-type congenital muscular dystrophy demonstrated that COX-2 overexpression induces the formation of NFTs.

Taken together, these findings demonstrate that COX-2 induces the phosphorylation of tau, raising the question as to whether nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are useful in decreasing hyperphosphorylated tau protein. Many studies have revealed that treatment with rofecoxib, an inhibitor of COX-2 (Guan and Wang, 2019) reduces tau hyperphosphorylation. Other NSAIDs, including ibuprofen, have been shown to reduce memory impairment via inhibiting COX-2 and lowering the levels of phosphorylated tau (Guan and Wang, 2019; Wang et al., 2017).

10. COX-2 and GSK3β

Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Beta (GSK3 β) is a protein kinase that plays a critical role in the phosphorylation of tau protein (Zhou et al., 2022). This enzyme plays an important role in several aspects of neuronal function, such as neuronal development (Luo, 2012). GSK3 β is one of the main kinases that phosphorylates tau protein and has been linked to the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD).

The overactivity of GSK3 β increases the hyperphosphorylation of tau, disruption of synaptic plasticity (Zhou et al., 2022; Sayas, 2021) and can contribute to the accumulation of A β via affecting presenilin-1 (PS1) (D'Mello, 2021).

This dysregulation of GSK3 β has been linked to the pathogenesis of AD (Sayas, 2021). For example, a study in transgenic mice found that overexpression of GSK3 β leads to tau hyperphosphorylation and cognitive impairment (Rodríguez-Matellán et al., 2020).

It is thought that the relationship between GSK3 β and COX-2 is a significant contributor to the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD). Studies have reported that GSK3 β plays a central role in the inflammatory process (Jope et al., 2007).

In vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that GSK3 β is implicated in the secretion of inflammatory molecules like PGE2 (Noma et al., 2016), cytokines including IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α (Lauretti et al., 2020) and activation of microglial cells (D'Mello, 2021; Eskandarzadeh et al., 2021).

Interestingly, there is a link between COX-2 and GSK3 β . Studies have shown that COX-2 can regulate GSK3 β activity, and that inhibition of COX-2 can reduce GSK3 β activity and tau phosphorylation. For example, a study found that COX-2 inhibition reduces tau phosphorylation by decreasing GSK3 β activity in a mouse model of AD. It has also been reported that 15d-PGJ2, a metabolite of COX-2, can activate GSK3 β and exacerbate tau pathology.

The inhibition of GSK3 significantly reduces the expression of both COX-2 and mPGES-1 (Eskandarzadeh et al., 2021), which are enzymes involved in the inflammatory process.

One study found that inhibition of GSK3 β reduced COX-2 expression and PGE2 production in a mouse model of AD (Czapka et al., 2020; Takadera and Ohyashiki, 2006). Another study found that treatment with a GSK3 inhibitor called SB216763 led to a reduction in the expression of COX-2 (Oliveira et al., 2012). These findings suggest that GSK3 inhibitors have anti-inflammatory effects (Jope et al., 2007).

Therefore, GSK3 β inhibitors would be promising in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders where neuroinflammation plays a key role (Takadera and Ohyashiki, 2006).

A growing body of research has been dedicated to studying the anti-cancer properties of anti-inflammatory drugs such as celecoxib, which has been found to inhibit GSK3 (Chen et al., 2011).

Similarly, another study focused on naproxen for its inhibitory effects on GSK3 to help in the management of diabetes and obesity. Naproxen has been found to inhibit GSK3 in adipose tissue, leading to improved insulin sensitivity and reduced inflammation (Motawi et al., 2013).

Flurbiprofen and ibuprofen are also among the NSAIDs that have been found to inhibit the activity of GSK3 β (Fu et al., 2012; Greenspan et al., 2011). A study was designed to elucidate the effects of tolfenamic acid on GSK3 β activity and found that GSK3 β was inhibited by tolfenamic acid, a member of the fenamate group, leading to a decrease in hyperphosphorylated tau protein levels (Fu and Chen, 2012; Greenspan et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2020; Ahmed et al., 2018). GSK3 β plays a central role in the inflammatory process and has been linked to the pathogenesis of AD. Studies have also shown that GSK3 β is related to COX-2, and that inhibition of GSK3 β reduces the expression of COX-2, suggesting that GSK3 inhibitors have anti-inflammatory effects, and could be promising in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders where neuroinflammation is a main factor.

In conclusion, these findings provide strong evidence that a number of NSAIDs could be useful by blocking GSK3 enzyme leading to an attenuation in the levels of phosphorylated tau protein, resulting in a reduced risk of developing cognitive impairment (Bradbury, 2004).

11. COX-2 and CDK5

Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (CDK5) is a protein kinase that belongs to the CDK family (Allnutt et al., 2020). Unlike other CDK proteins, which need to bind to cyclins to become active, CDK5 is activated upon binding with its specific activators p35 or p39 (Liu et al., 2016). CDK5 plays a critical role in many essential functions such as the normal development of the central nervous system (CNS), neuronal migration, synaptic function (Allnutt et al., 2020) and memory (D'Mello, 2021). However, in addition to these physiological roles, CDK5 is also suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of many neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's disease (AD), as it is a major tau protein kinase.

In vitro studies have demonstrated that overactivity of CDK5 leads to hyperphosphorylation of tau and increased formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Noble et al., 2003). CDK5 has also been reported to contribute to the inflammatory process (Pfänder et al., 2021). It has a role in the secretion of inflammatory cytokines (D'Mello, 2021). A study confirmed that both GSK3 β and CDK5 have roles in neurodegenerative diseases where neuroinflammation (Reinhardt et al., 2019) takes a role. Inflammatory mediators including IL-6 and TNF- α have been shown to trigger the activation of CDK5 (Wilkaniec et al., 2018).

A previous study reported that roscovitine, a CDK5 inhibitor, showed anti-inflammatory properties and reduced the high levels of COX-2 (Wilkaniec et al., 2018), indicating that this drug could have beneficial effects in neuroinflammatory-mediated degeneration (Pfänder et al., 2021).

A study has been dedicated to studying the role of NSAIDs in preventing cognitive function disorder through many pathways and it showed that dexibuprofen could decrease the inflammatory stimuli via affecting the CDK5 pathway and diminishing the phosphorylation of tau protein (Ettcheto et al., 2017). This suggests that CDK5 inhibitors could be a promising approach in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, where tau phosphorylation and neuroinflammation play critical roles in the pathology.

As a result, the development of CDK5 inhibitors offers a new approach in the treatment of brain inflammation (Wilkaniec et al., 2018). Fig. 4 shows the relationship between COX-2 and Alzheimer's related proteins.

12. Role of NSAIDs in the management of AD

Neuroinflammation has been proposed as an underlying mechanism that is implicated in a number of neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Spagnuolo et al., 2018). Therefore, the management of AD with non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) has received increasing attention (Aisen, 2002). NSAIDs have been hypothesized to prevent the progression and development of AD (Meyer et al., 2019).



Fig. 4. Involvement of COX-2 enzyme in AD. COX-2 induces γ -secretase activity which in turn cleaves APP leading to the neurotoxic Aß generation which is associated with AD, while the inhibition of Gsk3ß and Cdk5 by a number of NSAIDs reduces the expression of COX-2 leading to an attenuation in the levels of phosphorylated tau protein. ACHEIs could reduce the inflammatory response via increasing ACh concentrations in the brain.

Several studies have demonstrated that long-term use of NSAIDs is associated with a reduced risk of AD and may protect against it. A number of epidemiological studies have shown good results and promising potential in this field. These studies have examined the association between the use of this class of medications and the progression of AD.

The Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging found that the risk of AD decreased for people who used NSAIDs for more than 2 years (Ozben and Ozben, 2019). Results from other studies have also suggested that NSAIDs may have protective effects against AD. For example, the Rotterdam Study reported that NSAIDs have effects on dementia risk and could reduce it (In 't Veld et al., 1998). Another study found that a high-dose of aspirin may lower the incidence of AD (Nilsson et al., 2003). While the key finding of Jorda's study was that the administration of low doses of aspirin might be beneficial in AD patients (Jorda et al., 2020).

On the other hand, a study showed that aspirin at a low-dose could slow down the rate of cognitive impairment (Nguyen et al., 2022). It was also found that NSAIDs have a protective role and appeared to contribute to regulatory processes of glutamate function and enhance synaptic function (Imbimbo, 2009). A study found that indomethacin at a dose of 100–150 mg per day showed neuroprotective effects in patients with AD (P. R et al., 2021). It has been shown that ibuprofen also has beneficial effects in the management of AD and improves memory deficits (Zamanian-Azodi et al., 2019).

As mentioned before, during the progression of AD, microglial cells contribute to the neuroinflammatory process. Therefore, a number of studies have shown that some NSAIDs suppress the activation of microglia (Gunaydin and Bilge,2018; Imbimbo, 2009). For example, a study found that celecoxib, an NSAID that selectively targets COX-2, reduced the activation of microglia in a mouse model of AD. Another study found that ibuprofen suppressed the activation of microglia and reduced the levels of phosphorylated tau protein.

But there is controversial data from preclinical studies which focused on the effects of NSAIDs especially selective COX-2 inhibitors in AD and found that celecoxib has failed to show cognitive amelioration in the brains of AD patients (Sánchez-Sarasúa et al., 2022). While there is evidence that suggests that non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) may have protective effects against Alzheimer's disease (AD), there are also studies that have produced conflicting results. Some preclinical studies have focused on the effects of NSAIDs, particularly selective COX-2 inhibitors, in AD and found that they have failed to show cognitive improvement in the brains of AD patients. For example, a study found that celecoxib did not show cognitive amelioration in AD patients (Tyagi et al., 2020; Rivers-Auty et al., 2020; Fu et al., 2018).

Additionally, clinical studies have provided evidence that the use of NSAIDs has been disappointing in the management of AD and did not slow down the severity of dementia (Tyagi et al., 2020; P. R et al., 2021; Fu et al., 2018).

For example, treatment with ibuprofen at 400 mg had no significant cognitive benefit (Elmaleh et al. 2019), and naproxen at a dose of 220 mg was not effective in preventing the progression of pre-symptomatic AD (Benito-León et al., 2019).

Furthermore, some studies have suggested that certain NSAIDs may even worsen the disease. For example, studies evaluating whether rofecoxib could have beneficial effects in the management of AD have been negative and have shown that rofecoxib has failed and may have been associated with aggravation of AD (Maccioni et al., 2020; Cai et al., 2019).

These results highlight the potential explanations for the failure of NSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors against AD.

It was suggested that NSAIDs, if started early enough, could have a preventive role (Zimmer et al., 2014) the failure of NSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors against AD may be due to the timing and progression of AD and the type of NSAID used (Biringer, 2019). Therefore, it is believed that NSAIDs may be a promising novel therapeutic approach for the management of neurodegenerative diseases including AD, but further research and studies are needed to fully understand their effects and to develop new NSAIDs.

It is important to note that the results of preclinical and clinical studies investigating the use of COX-2 inhibitors in AD are mixed, and the potential benefits and risks of these drugs in the treatment of AD is still under investigation. It's also important to note that the studies that showed the benefits of COX-2 inhibitors in AD are still preclinical studies and more large-scale clinical trials are needed to confirm these results.

In conclusion, several studies have provided promising evidence that NSAIDs may have protective effects against AD. These studies have shown that long-term use of NSAIDs is associated with a reduced risk of AD and that some NSAIDs can reduce the levels of phosphorylated tau protein, improve cognitive function, and suppress the activation of microglia.

13. Conclusion

In summary, the purpose of this review was to examine the potential role of cyclooxygenase enzymes, specifically COX-2, in the development and progression of Alzheimer's disease (AD). It highlighted evidence that suggests that COX-2 may be an important therapeutic target in AD as it contributes to neuronal activities and is upregulated in the brains of people with AD. It also discussed the association between the elevated expression of COX-2 and other key proteins that contribute to the development of AD.

The review also discussed the potential use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) as a treatment for AD. As NSAIDs are known inhibitors of COX enzymes, they may have beneficial effects by interfering with the chronic inflammatory process that is thought to be involved in AD. However, the review also acknowledged that there are mixed results in studies examining the effectiveness of NSAIDs in treating AD, and that more research is needed in this area. Although, there are currently no FDA-approved medications specifically designed to target COX-2 in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. the review suggests that COX-2 may be a promising target for the treatment of AD, and that NSAIDs may have potential as a treatment for AD. However, it also emphasizes the need for further research and studies to fully understand the mechanisms by which COX-2 and NSAIDs may be involved in the development and progression of AD and to identify new therapeutic strategies for the management of AD.

Author contribution

All authors contributed to the conception of this review and its design. Nathalie Moussa planned and structured the review. Both authors created the first draft and all the illustrations. In previous versions of the manuscript, all authors provided their comments. The final manuscript was read and approved by all authors.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgment

Authors would thank Manara University and Al Andalus University for all the support and encouragement.

References

- Abdellatif, K.R.A., Abdelall, E.K.A., Elshemy, H.A.H., Philoppes, J.N., Hassanein, E.H.M., Kahk, N.M., 2022. Design, synthesis, and pharmacological evaluation of novel and selective COX-2 inhibitors based on celecoxib scaffold supported with in vivo anti-inflammatory activity, ulcerogenic liability, ADME profiling and docking study. Bioorg. Chem. 120, https://doi:10.1016/j.bioorg.2022.105627 105627.
- Ahmed, S., Sheraz, M.A., Ahmad, I., 2018. Tolfenamic Acid. Progress in Drug Research, Vol. 73. Springer International Publishing, pp. 255–319. https://doi. org/10.1016/bs.podrm.2018.01.001.
- Aisen, P.S., 2002. Evaluation of Selective COX-2 Inhibitors for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 23 (4), S35–S40 https://doi:10. 1016/s0885-3924(02)00374-3.
- Ali, K. A., Maity, A., Roy, S. D., Das Pramanik, S., Pratim Das, P., & Shaharyar, M. A. 2023. Insight into the mechanism of steroidal and non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. In: How Synthetic Drugs Work. Elsevier; pp. 61-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-99855-0.00004-X.
- Allnutt, A.B., Waters, A.K., Kesari, S., Yenugonda, V.M., 2020. Physiological and pathological roles of CdK5: Potential directions for therapeutic targeting in neurodegenerative disease. ACS Chem. Nerosci. 11 (9), 1218–1230 https://doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00096.
- Amor, S., Puentes, F., Baker, D., van der Valk, P., 2010. Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. Immunology 129 (2), 154–169 https://doi:10. 1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03225.x.
- Arnaud, L., Robakis, N.K., Figueiredo-Pereira, M.E., 2006. It may take inflammation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination to 'Tangle' in Alzheimer's disease. Neurodegener Dis 3 (6), 313–319 https://doi:10.1159/000095638.
- Ayman, R., Abusaif, M.S., Radwan, A.M., Elmetwally, A.M., Ragab, A., 2023. Development of novel pyrazole, imidazo[1,2-b]pyrazole, and pyrazolo[1,5-a] pyrimidine derivatives as a new class of COX-2 inhibitors with immunomodulatory potential. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 249,. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejmech.2023.115138 115138.
- Beckmann, J., Lips, K.S., 2013. The non-neuronal cholinergic system in health and disease. Pharmacology 92 (5–6), 286–302 https://doi:10.1159/000355835.
- Belvisi, M.G., Saunders, M.A., Haddad, E.B., Hirst, S.J., Yacoub, M.H., Barnes, P.J., Mitchell, J.A., 1997. Induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by cytokines in human cultured airway smooth muscle cells: novel inflammatory role of this cell type. Br. J. Pharmacol. 120 (5), 910–916 https://doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0700963.
- Benito-León, J., Contador, I., Vega, S., Villarejo-Galende, A., Bermejo-Pareja, F., 2019. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs use in older adults decreases risk of Alzheimer's disease mortality. PLoS One 14 (9), e0222505 https://doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0222505.
- Biringer, R.G., 2019. The role of eicosanoids in Alzheimer's disease. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16 (14), 2560. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142560.

- Bordet, R., Ouk, T., Petrault, O., Gelé, P., Gautier, S., Laprais, M., et al., 2006. PPAR: a new pharmacological target for neuroprotection in stroke and neurodegenerative diseases. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 34 (6), 1341–1346 https://doi:10.1042/BST0341341.
- Bradbury, J., 2004. Antiprogesterone hope for inherited neuropathy. Lancet Neurol. 3 (1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(03)00636-7.
- Braithwaite, S.P., Stock, J.B., Lombroso, P.J., Nairn, A.C., 2012. Protein phosphatases and Alzheimer's disease. Progress in molecular biology and translational science, Vol. 107. Elsevier, pp. 343–379.
- Breijyeh, Z., Karaman, R., 2020. Comprehensive review on Alzheimer's disease: Causes and treatment. Molecules 25 (24), 5789. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules25245789.
- Brotzakis, Z.F., Lindstedt, P.R., Taylor, R.J., Rinauro, D.J., Gallagher, N.C.T., Bernardes, G.J.L., et al., 2021. A structural ensemble of a tau-microtubule complex reveals regulatory tau phosphorylation and acetylation mechanisms. ACS Cent. Sci. 7 (12), 1986–1995 https://doi: 10.1021/acscentsci.1c00585.
- Cai, M., Lee, J.H., Yang, E.J., 2019. Electroacupuncture attenuates cognition impairment via anti-neuroinflammation in an Alzheimer's disease animal model. J. Neuroinflammation 16 (1), 264. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-019-1665-3.
- Campanari, M.-L., Navarrete, F., Ginsberg, S.D., Manzanares, J., Sáez-Valero, J., García-Ayllón, M.-S., 2016. Increased Expression of readthrough acetylcholinesterase variants in the brains of Alzheimer's disease patients. J. Alzheimers Dis. 53 (3), 831–841 https://doi:10.3233/jad-160220.
- Cao, L.-L., Guan, P.-P., Liang, Y.-Y., Huang, X.-S., Wang, P., 2019. Cyclooxygenase-2 is essential for mediating the effects of calcium ions on stimulating phosphorylation of tau at the sites of Ser 396 and Ser 404. J. Alzheimers Dis. 68 (3), 1095–1111. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-181066.
- Chen, S., Cao, W., Yue, P., Hao, C., Khuri, F.R., Sun, S.Y., 2011. Celecoxib promotes c-FLIP degradation through Akt-independent inhibition of GSK3. Cancer Res. 71 (19), 6270–6281 https://doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-0838.
- Chen, Z.-R., Huang, J.-B., Yang, S.-L., Hong, F.-F., 2022. Role of cholinergic signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Molecules 27 (6), 1816. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules27061816.
- Chen, Y.-C., Wu, J.-S., Tsai, H.-D., Huang, C.-Y., Chen, J.-J., Sun, G.Y., et al., 2012. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR-γ) and neurodegenerative disorders. Mol. Neurobiol. 46 (1), 114–124 https://doi:10. 1007/s12035-012-8259-8.
- Chen, G., Xu, T., Yan, Y., Zhou, Y., Jiang, Y., Melcher, K., et al., 2017. Amyloid beta: structure, biology and structure-based therapeutic development. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 38 (9), 1205–1235 https://doi:10.1038/aps.2017.28.
- Chen, W., Xu, Q., Ma, X., Mo, J., Lin, G., He, G., Chen, C., 2023. Synthesis and biological evaluation of N-(benzene sulfonyl) acetamide derivatives as anti-inflammatory and analgesic agents with COX-2/5-LOX/TRPV1 multifunctional inhibitory activity. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 80, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bmcl.2022.129101 129101.
- Chini, M.G., Giordano, A., Potenza, M., Terracciano, S., Fischer, K., Vaccaro, M.C., Limongelli, V., 2020. Targeting mPGES-1 by a combinatorial approach: identification of the aminobenzothiazole scaffold to suppress PGE 2 levels. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 11 (5), 783–789. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsmedchemlett.9b00618.
- Choi, S.-H., Aid, S., Caracciolo, L., Minami, S.S., Niikura, T., Matsuoka, Y., Kim, H.S., 2013. Cyclooxygenase-1 inhibition reduces amyloid pathology and improves memory deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 124 (1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/inc.12059.
- Colangelo, C., Shichkova, P., Keller, D., Markram, H., Ramaswamy, S., 2019. Cellular, synaptic and network effects of acetylcholine in the neocortex. Front. Neural Circuits 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2019.00024.
- Cui, J.-G., Kuroda, H., Chandrasekharan, N.V., Pelaez, R.P., Simmons, D.L., Bazan, N.G., et al., 2004. Cyclooxygenase-3 Gene expression in alzheimer hippocampus and in stressed human neural cells. Neurochem. Res. 29 (9), 1731–1737 https://doi: 10.1023/B:NERE.0000035809.70905.8a.
- Capka, A., König, S., Pergola, C., Grune, C., Vougogiannopoulou, K., Skaltsounis, A.-L., et al., 2020. The indirubin derivative 6-bromoindirubin-3'-glycerol-oxime ether (6BIGOE) potently modulates inflammatory cytokine and prostaglandin release from human monocytes through GSK-3 interference. Biochem. Pharmacol. 180, https://doi.10.1016/j.bcp.2020.114170 114170.
- D'Mello, S.R., 2021. When good kinases go rogue: GSK3, p38 MAPK and CDKs as therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's and huntington's disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (11), 5911. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22115911.
- Daniels, M.J.D., Rivers-Auty, J., Schilling, T., Spencer, N.G., Watremez, W., Fasolino, V., Brough, D., 2016. Fenamate NSAIDs inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome and protect against Alzheimer's disease in rodent models. Nat. Commun. 7 (1), 12504. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12504.
- Das, U.N., 2005. Can COX-2 inhibitor-induced increase in cardiovascular disease risk be modified by essential fatty acids? J. Assoc. Physicians India 53, 623–627. PMID: 16190133.
- Dehury, B., Tang, N., Kepp, K.P., 2019. Molecular dynamics of C99-bound γ-secretase reveal two binding modes with distinct compactness, stability, and active-site retention: implications for Aβ production. Biochem. J 476 (7), 1173–1189. https://doi.org/10.1042/bcj20190023.
- Dhapola, R., Hota, S.S., Sarma, P., Bhattacharyya, A., Medhi, B., Reddy, D.H., 2021. Recent advances in molecular pathways and therapeutic implications targeting

neuroinflammation for Alzheimer's disease. Inflammopharmacology 29 (6), 1669–1681 https://doi:10.1007/s10787-021-00889-6. Dinkel, F., Trujillo-Rodriguez, D., Villegas, A., Streffer, J., Mercken, M., Lopera, F.,

- Dinkel, F., Trujillo-Rodriguez, D., Villegas, A., Streffer, J., Mercken, M., Lopera, F., Mueller, W.E., 2020. Decreased Deposition of Beta-Amyloid 1–38 and Increased Deposition of Beta-Amyloid 1–42 in Brain Tissue of Presenilin-1 E280A Familial Alzheimer's Disease Patients. Front. Aging Neurosci. 12. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00220.
- Du, H., Chen, X., Zhang, J., Chen, C., 2011. Inhibition of COX-2 expression by endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol is mediated via PPAR-γ. Br. J. Pharmacol. 163 (7), 1533–1549 https://doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01444.x.
- Du, X., Wang, X., Geng, M., 2018. Alzheimer's disease hypothesis and related therapies. Translational Neurodegeneration 7 (1), 2 https://doi:10.1186/ s40035-018-0107-y.
- Duan, Y., Chen, F., Zhang, A., Zhu, B., Sun, J., Xie, Q., et al., 2014. Aspirin inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced COX-2 expression and PGE2 production in porcine alveolar macrophages by modulating protein kinase C and protein tyrosine phosphatase activity. BMB Rep. 47 (1), 45–50 https://doi: 10.5483/bmbrep. 2014.47.1.089.
- Elmaleh, D.R., Farlow, M.R., Conti, P.S., Tompkins, R.G., Kundakovic, L., Tanzi, R.E., 2019. Developing Effective Alzheimer's Disease Therapies: Clinical Experience and Future Directions. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 71 (3), 715–732 https://doi:10.3233/JAD-190507.
- Eriksen, J.L., Sagi, S.A., Smith, T.E., Weggen, S., Das, P., McLendon, D.C., Golde, T.E., 2003. NSAIDs and enantiomers of flurbiprofen target γ-secretase and lower Aβ42 in vivo. J. Clin. Investig. 112 (3), 440–449. https://doi.org/10.1172/ ici18162.
- Eskandarzadeh, M., Kordestani-Moghadam, P., Pourmand, S., Khalili Fard, J., Almassian, B., Gharaghani, S., 2021. Inhibition of GSK_3β by iridoid glycosides of snowberry (Symphoricarpos albus) effective in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease using computational drug design methods. Front. Chem. 9. https://doi. org/10.3389/fchem.2021.709932.
- Ettcheto, M., Sánchez-López, E., Pons, L., Busquets, O., Olloquequi, J., Beas-Zarate, C., et al., 2017. Dexibuprofen prevents neurodegeneration and cognitive decline in APPswe/PS1dE9 through multiple signaling pathways. Redox Biol. 13, 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.06.003.
- Fang, L., Shen, S., Liu, Q., Liu, Z., Zhao, J., 2022. Combination of NSAIDs with donepezil as multi-target directed ligands for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 75, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bmcl.2022.128976 128976.
- Flaherty, D.B., Soria, J.P., Tomasiewicz, H.G., Wood, J.G., 2000. Phosphorylation of human tau protein by microtubule-associated kinases: GSK3β and cdk5 are key participants. J. Neurosci. Res. 62 (3), 463–472.
- Fu, H., Chen, H., Wang, C., Xu, H., Liu, F., Guo, M., et al., 2012. Flurbiprofen, a Cyclooxygenase Inhibitor, Protects Mice from Hepatic Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury by Inhibiting GSK-3β Signaling and Mitochondrial Permeability Transition. Mol. Med. 18 (7), 1128–1135 https://doi:10.2119/molmed.2012. 00088.
- Gendron, T.F., Petrucelli, L., 2009. The role of tau in neurodegeneration. Mol. Neurodegener. 4 (1), 13 https://doi:10.1186/1750-1326-4-13.
- Gerakis, Y., Hetz, C., 2018. Emerging roles of ER stress in the etiology and pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. FEBS J. 285 (6), 995–1011 https://doi:10. 1111/febs.14332.
- Ghosh, S., Wu, M.D., Shaftel, S.S., Kyrkanides, S., LaFerla, F.M., Olschowka, J.A., et al., 2013. Sustained interleukin-1β overexpression exacerbates tau pathology despite reduced amyloid burden in an alzheimer's mouse model. J. Neurosci. 33 (11), 5053–5064 https://doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4361-12.2013.
- Gorantla, N.V., Landge, V.G., Nagaraju, P.G., Priyadarshini, C.G.P., Balaraman, E., Chinnathambi, S., 2019. Molecular cobalt(II) complexes for tau polymerization in Alzheimer's disease. ACS Omega 4 (16), 16702–16714. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acsomega.9b00692.
- Goschorska, M., Baranowska-Bosiacka, I., Gutowska, I., Tarnowski, M., Piotrowska, K., Metryka, E., et al., 2018. Effect of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors donepezil and rivastigmine on the activity and expression of cyclooxygenases in a model of the inflammatory action of fluoride on macrophages obtained from THP-1 monocytes. Toxicology 406–407, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.tox.2018.05.007.
- Greenspan, E.J., Madigan, J.P., Boardman, L.A., Rosenberg, D.W., 2011. Ibuprofen inhibits activation of nuclear β-Catenin in human colon adenomas and induces the phosphorylation of GSK-3β. Cancer Prev. Res. 4 (1), 161–171. https://doi. org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-10-0021.
- Guan, P.-P., Wang, P., 2019. Integrated communications between cyclooxygenase-2 and Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. 33 (1), 13–33. https://doi.org/10.1096/ fj.201800355rrrr.
- Guan, P.-P., Yu, X., Zou, Y.-H., Wang, P., 2019. Cyclooxygenase-2 is critical for the propagation of β -amyloid protein and reducing the glycosylation of tau in Alzheimer's disease. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 16 (11), 892–894 https://doi:10.1038/s41423-019-0294-1.
- Gunaydin, C., Bilge, S.S., 2018. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs at the molecular level. Eurasian J Med 50 (2) https://doi:10.5152/eurasianjmed. 2018.0010.
- Hainmueller, T., Bartos, M., 2020. Dentate gyrus circuits for encoding, retrieval and discrimination of episodic memories. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 21 (3), 153–168. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0260-z.

- Hampel, H., Hardy, J., Blennow, K., Chen, C., Perry, G., Kim, S.H., et al., 2021. The amyloid-β pathway in Alzheimer's disease. Mol. Psychiatry 26 (10), 5481–5503 https://doi:10.1038/s41380-021-01249-0.
- Herrmann, N., Chau, S.A., Kircanski, I., Lanctôt, K.L., 2011. Current and emerging drug treatment options for Alzheimer's disease. Drugs 71 (15), 2031–2065 https://doi:10.2165/11595870-00000000-00000.
- Ho, L., Purohit, D., Haroutunian, V., Luterman, J.D., Willis, F., Naslund, J., Buxbaum, J. D., Mohs, R.C., Aisen, P.S., Pasinetti, G.M., 2001. Neuronal cyclooxygenase 2 expression in the hippocampal formation as a function of the clinical progression of alzheimer disease. Arch. Neurol. 58 (3) https://doi:10.1001/ archneur.58.3.487.
- Hoozemans, J., Rozemuller, J., van Haastert, E., Veerhuis, R., Eikelenboom, P., 2008. Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 in the different stages of Alzheimer's disease pathology. Curr. Pharm. Des. 14 (14), 1419–1427 https://doi:10.2174/ 138161208784480171.
- Hossain, M.F., Uddin, M.S., Uddin, G.M.S., Sumsuzzman, D.M., Islam, M.S., Barreto, G. E., et al., 2019. Melatonin in Alzheimer's disease: A latent endogenous regulator of neurogenesis to mitigate Alzheimer's neuropathology. Mol. Neurobiol. 56 (12), 8255–8276 https://doi:10.1007/s12035-019-01660-3.
- Hua, K.-F., Chou, J.-C., Ka, S.-M., Tasi, Y.-L., Chen, A., Wu, S.-H., et al., 2015. Cyclooxygenase-2 regulates NLRP3 inflammasome-derived IL-1β production. J. Cell. Physiol. 230 (4), 863–874. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24815.
- Huang, Y., Xu, W., Zhou, R., 2021. NLRP3 inflammasome activation and cell death. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 18 (9), 2114–2127. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-021-00740-6.
- Hur, J.-Y., 2022. γ-Secretase in Alzheimer's disease. Exp. Mol. Med. 54 (4), 433–446 https://doi:10.1038/s12276-022-00754-8.
- Hurtado, D.E., Molina-Porcel, L., Iba, M., Aboagye, A.K., Paul, S.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M., 2010. Aβ Accelerates the spatiotemporal progression of tau pathology and augments tau amyloidosis in an alzheimer mouse model. Am. J. Pathol. 177 (4), 1977–1988 https://doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010.100346.
- Hwang, D.Y., Chae, K.R., Kang, T.S., Hwang, J.H., Lim, C.H., Kang, H.K., Cho, J.Y., 2002. Alterations in behavior, amyloid p-42, caspase-3, and Cox-2 in mutant PS2 transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. 16 (8), 805–813. https://doi.org/10.1096/fi.01-0732com.
- Im, H., Ammit, A.J., 2014. The NLRP3 inflammasome: role in airway inflammation. Clin Exp Allergy 44 (2), 160–172 https://doi:10.1111/cea.12206.
- Imbimbo, B.P., 2009. An update on the efficacy of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease. Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs 18 (8), 1147–1168 https://doi:10.1517/13543780903066780.
- In 't Veld, B. A., Launer, L. J., Hoes, A. W., Ott, A., Hofman, A., Breteler, M. M. B., et al. (1998). NSAIDs and incident Alzheimer's disease: the Rotterdam study. Neurobiology of Aging, 19(6), 607–611. https://doi:10.1016/s0197-4580(98) 00096-7.
- Iqbal, K., Liu, F., Gong, C.-X., Grundke-Iqbal, I., 2010. Tau in alzheimer disease and related tauopathies. Curr. Alzheimer Res. 7 (8), 656–664 https://doi:10.2174/ 156720510793611592.
- Iwata, Y., Miyao, M., Hirotsu, A., Tatsumi, K., Matsuyama, T., Uetsuki, N., Hirayama, A., 2021. The inhibitory effects of Orengedokuto on inducible PGE2 production in BV-2 microglial cells. Heliyon 7, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021. e07759 e07759.
- Jack, C.R., Bennett, D.A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M.C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S.B., et al., 2018. NIA-AA research framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Dement 14 (4), 535–562 https://doi:10.1016/ j.jalz.2018.02.018.
- Jaturapatporn, D., Isaac, M.G.E.K.N., McCleery, J., Tabet, N., 2012. Aspirin, steroidal and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. https://doi. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 14651858.cd006378.pub2.
- Jope, R. S., Yuskaitis, C. J., & Beurel, E. 2007. Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 (GSK3): Inflammation, Diseases, and Therapeutics. Neurochem Res, 32(4-5), pp. 577-595. https://doi: 10.1007/s11064-006-9128-5.
- Jorda, A., Aldasoro, M., Aldasoro, C., Guerra-Ojeda, S., Iradi, A., Vila, J.M., et al., 2020. Action of low doses of aspirin in inflammation and oxidative stress induced by $a\beta$ 1–42 on astrocytes in primary culture. Int. J. Med. Sci. 17 (6), 834–843 https://doi:10.7150/ijms.40959.
- Jung, H.Y., Yoo, D.Y., Nam, S.M., Kim, J.W., Kim, W., Kwon, H.J., Lee, K.Y., Choi, J.H., Kim, D.W., Yoon, Y.S., Seong, J.K., Hwang, I.K., 2019. Postnatal changes in constitutive cyclooxygenase–2 expression in the mice hippocampus and its function in synaptic plasticity. Mol. Med. Rep. 20 (6), 4996–5006 https://doi:10. 3892/mnr.2019.9867.
- Kadoyama, K., Takahashi, Y., Higashida, H., Tanabe, T., Yoshimoto, T., 2002. Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 stimulates amyloid β-peptide production in neuronal cells. Int. Congr. Ser. 1233, 349–353 https://doi:10.1016/s0531-5131(02)00599-x.
- Kawaguchi, K., Hickey, R.W., Rose, M.E., Zhu, L., Chen, J., Graham, S.H., 2005. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is induced in rat brain after kainate-induced seizures and promotes neuronal death in CA3 hippocampus. Brain Res. 1050 (1– 2), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2005.05.038.
- Kendall, M.J., Maxwell, S.R.J., Sandberg, A., Westergren, G., 1991. Controlled release metoprolol. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 21 (5), 319–330 https://doi:10.2165/ 00003088-199121050-00001.

- Kim, J., Lee, H., Park, S.K., Park, J.-H., Jeong, H.-R., Lee, S., et al., 2021. Donepezil regulates LPS and Aβ-stimulated neuroinflammation through MAPK/NLRP3 inflammasome/STAT3 signaling. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (19), 10637. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms221910637.
- Kinney, J.W., Bemiller, S.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Leisgang, A.M., Salazar, A.M., Lamb, B. T., 2018. Inflammation as a central mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions 4 (1), 575–590 https://doi:10.1016/j.trci.2018.06.014.
- Kumar, A., Alam, M. S., Hamid, H., Chugh, V., Tikla, T., Kaul, R., Dhulap, A., & Sharma, S. K. 2023. Design and synthesis of anti-inflammatory 1,2,3triazolylpyrrolobenzodiazepinone derivatives and impact of molecular structure on COX-2 selective targeting. Journal of Molecular Structure, 1272, 134151. ISSN 0022-2860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molstruc.2022.134151.
- Kumar, P., Jha, N.K., Jha, S.K., Ramani, K., Ambasta, R.K., 2014. Tau phosphorylation, molecular chaperones, and ubiquitin E3 ligase: clinical relevance in Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 43 (2), 341–361 https://doi:10.3233/jad-140933.
- Lastra, C., Sanchez-Fidalgo, S., Villegas, I., Motilva, V., 2004. New pharmacological perspectives and therapeutic potential of PPAR-γ agonists. Curr. Pharm. Des. 10 (28), 3505–3524. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612043382909.
- Lauretti, E., Dincer, O., Praticò, D., 2020. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research 1867, (5) 118664.
- Leng, F., Edison, P., 2021. Neuroinflammation and microglial activation in Alzheimer disease: where do we go from here? Nat. Rev. Neurol. 17 (3), 157–172 https://doi:10.1038/s41582-020-00435-y.
- Liu, Z., Li, T., Li, P., Wei, N., Zhao, Z., Liang, H., et al., 2015. The ambiguous relationship of oxidative stress, tau hyperphosphorylation, and autophagy dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2015, 1–12 https://doi:10.1155/2015/352723.
- Liu, S.-L., Wang, C., Jiang, T., Tan, L., Xing, A., Yu, J.-T., 2016. The role of Cdk5 in Alzheimer's disease. Mol. Neurobiol. 53 (7), 4328–4342. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12035-015-9369-x.
- Liu, P., Wang, Y., Sun, Y., Peng, G., 2022. Neuroinflammation as a potential therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease. Clin. Interv. Aging 17, 665–674. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S357558.
- Liu, R., Wu, S., Guo, C., Hu, Z., Peng, J., Guo, K., et al., 2020. Ibuprofen exerts antiepileptic and neuroprotective effects in the rat model of pentylenetetrazolinduced epilepsy via the COX-2/NLRP3/IL-18 pathway. Neurochem. Res. 45 (10), 2516–2526 https://doi:10.1007/s11064-020-03109-9.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, A., Sun, H., Han, Y., Kong, L., Wang, X., 2017. Two decades of new drug discovery and development for Alzheimer's disease. RSC Adv. 7 (10), 6046–6058 https://doi:10.1039/c6ra26737h.
- López, D.E., Ballaz, S.J., 2020. The role of brain cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) beyond neuroinflammation: neuronal homeostasis in memory and anxiety. Mol. Neurobiol. 57 (12), 5167–5176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-02087-x.
- Lu, P.-J., Wulf, G., Zhou, X.Z., Davies, P., Lu, K.P., 1999. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 restores the function of Alzheimer-associated phosphorylated tau protein. Nature 399 (6738), 784–788. https://doi.org/10.1038/21650.
- Luo, J., 2012. The role of GSK3beta in the development of the central nervous system. Front. Biol. 7 (3), 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11515-012-1222-2.
- Mass, A., Lockhart, S.N., Harrison, T.M., Bell, R.K., Mellinger, T., Swinnerton, K., et al., 2018. Entorhinal tau pathology, episodic memory decline, and neurodegeneration in aging. J. Neurosci. 38 (3), 530–543 https://doi:10.1523/ jneurosci.2028-17.2017.
- Maccioni, R.B., Navarrete, L.P., González, A., González-Canacer, A., Guzmán-Martínez, L., Cortés, N., 2020. Inflammation: A major target for compounds to control Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 76 (4), 1199–1213. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-191014.
- McGeer, P.L., Schulzer, M., McGeer, E.G., 1996. Arthritis and anti-inflammatory agents as possible protective factors for Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 47 (2), 425–432 https://doi:10.1212/wnl.47.2.425.
- McGirr, S., 'Venegas, C., Swaminathan, A., 2020. Alzheimer's disease: A brief review. J Exp Neurol 1 (3).
- Meyer, P-F., Tremblay-Mercier, J., Leoutsakos, J., Madjar, C., Lafaille-Maignan, M-É., Savard, M., et al. 2019. INTREPAD. Neurology, 10.1212/ WNL.000000000007232-10.1212/WNL.000000000007232. https:// doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000007232.
- Miao, J., Shi, R., Li, L., Chen, F., Zhou, Y., Tung, Y.C., et al., 2019. Pathological tau from alzheimer's brain induces site-specific hyperphosphorylation and sds- and reducing agent-resistant aggregation of tau in vivo. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 11 https://doi:10.3389/fnagi.2019.00034.
- Minghetti, L., 2004. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in Inflammatory and Degenerative Brain Diseases. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63 (9), 901–910.
- Minghetti, L., 2007. Role of COX-2 in inflammatory and degenerative brain diseases. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 66 (9), 901–908. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/nen.0b013e3181461d16. PMID: 17805014.
- Mitchell, J.A., Kirkby, N.S., 2019. Eicosanoids, prostacyclin and cyclooxygenase in the cardiovascular system. Br. J. Pharmacol. 176 (8), 1038–1050 https://doi:10. 1111/bph.14167.
- Motawi, T.M.K., Bustanji, Y., EL-Maraghy, S.A., Taha, M.O., Al Ghussein, M.A.S., 2013. Naproxen and cromolyn as new glycogen synthase kinase 3β inhibitors for amelioration of diabetes and obesity: an investigation by docking simulation

and subsequent in vitro/in vivo biochemical evaluation. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol. 27 (9), 425-436. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbt.21503. Muralidar, S., Ambi, S.V., Sekaran, S., Thirumalai, D., Palaniappan, B., 2020. Role of

- Muralidar, S., Ambi, S.V., Sekaran, S., Thirumalai, D., Palaniappan, B., 2020. Role of tau protein in Alzheimer's disease: The prime pathological player. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 163, 1599–1617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jibjomac.2020.07.327.
- Macromol. 163, 1599–1617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jibiomac.2020.07.327.
 Nagano, T., Tsuda, N., Fujimura, K., Ikezawa, Y., Higashi, Y., Kimura, S.H., 2021.
 Prostaglandin E2 increases the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in cultured rat microglia. J. Neuroimmunol. 361,. PMID: 34610503 577724.
- Nguyen, T.N.M., Chen, L.J., Trares, K., Stocker, H., Holleczek, B., Beyreuther, K., et al., 2022. Long-term low-dose acetylsalicylic use shows protective potential for the development of both vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease in patients with coronary heart disease but not in other individuals from the general population: results from two large cohort studies. Alzheimer's Res Ther. 14 (1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-022-01017-4.
- Nilsson, S.E., Johansson, B., Takkinen, S., Zarit, S., McClearn, G., Melander, A., Berg, S., 2003. Does aspirin protect against Alzheimer's dementia? A study in a Swedish population-based sample aged ≥ 80 years. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 59 (4), 313– 319 https://doi:10.1007/s00228-003-0618-y.
- Noble, W., Olm, V., Takata, K., Casey, E., Mary, O., Meyerson, J., et al., 2003. Cdk5 Is a key factor in tau aggregation and tangle formation in vivo. Neuron 38 (4), 555– 565 https://doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00259-9.
- Noma, T., Takahashi-Yanaga, F., Arioka, M., Mori, Y., Sasaguri, T., 2016. Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces prostaglandin E2 production by decreasing the expression levels of COX-2 and mPGES-1 in monocyte/macrophage lineage cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 116, 120–129 https://doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2016.07.014.
- Onyango, I.G., Jauregui, G.V., Carná, M., Bennett, J.P., Stokin, G.B., 2021. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease. Biomedicines 9 (5), 524. https:// doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9050524.
- Ossenkoppele, R., van der Kant, R., Hansson, O., 2022. Tau biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease: towards implementation in clinical practice and trials. Lancet Neurol. 21 (8), 726–734 https://doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00168-5.
- Ozben, T., Ozben, S., 2019. Neuro-inflammation and anti-inflammatory treatment options for Alzheimer's disease. Clin. Biochem. 72, 87–89 https://doi: 10.1016/ j.clinbiochem.2019.04.001.
- Patrono, C., 2016. Cardiovascular effects of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors: a mechanistic and clinical perspective. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 82 (4), 957–964. PMID: 27317138; PMCID: PMC5137820.
- Pfänder, P., Eiers, A.-K., Burret, U., Vettorazzi, S., 2021. Deletion of Cdk5 in Macrophages Ameliorates Anti-Inflammatory Response during Endotoxemia through Induction of C-Maf and Il-10. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (17), 9648. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms22179648.
- Pogue, A.I., Dua, P., Hill, J.M., Lukiw, W.J., 2015. Progressive inflammatory pathology in the retina of aluminum-fed 5xFAD transgenic mice. J. Inorg. Biochem. 152, 206–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2015.07.009.
- Pohanka, M., 2017. Cholinergic nervous system can be modulated by the cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib via inhibition of enzyme acetylcholinesterase. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 27 (S1060–S1060). https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0924-977x(17)31848-5.
- Rahman, A., Akterin, S., Flores-Morales, A., Crisby, M., Kivipelto, M., Schultzberg, M., et al., 2005. High cholesterol diet induces tau hyperphosphorylation in apolipoprotein E deficient mice. FEBS Lett. 579 (28), 6411–6416 https://doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.10.024.
- Reinhardt, L., Kordes, S., Reinhardt, P., Glatza, M., Baumann, M., Drexler, H.C.A., et al., 2019. Dual inhibition of GSK3β and CDK5 protects the cytoskeleton of neurons from neuroinflammatory-mediated degeneration in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cell Rep. 12 (3), 502–517 https://doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.01.015.
- Moussa, N., Hassan, A., Gharaghani, S., 2021. Pharmacophore model, docking, QSAR, and molecular dynamics simulation studies of substituted cyclic imides and herbal medicines as COX-2 inhibitors. Heliyon. 1;7(4):e06605. https://doi:10. 1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06605.
- Rendeiro, C., & Rhodes, J. S. 2021. Dietary flavonoids and brain health in aging. In: Factors Affecting Neurological Aging. Elsevier, pp. 589-601. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-817990-1.00051.
- Rivers-Auty, J., Mather, A.E., Peters, R., Lawrence, C.B., Brough, D., 2020. Antiinflammatories in Alzheimer's disease—potential therapy or spurious correlate? Brain. Communications 2 (2), fcaa163. https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/ fcaa163. PMID: 33134914; PMCID: PMC7585697.
- Rodríguez-Matellán, A., Avila, J., Hernández, F., 2020. Overexpression of GSK-3β in adult tet-off GSK-3β Transgenic mice, and not during embryonic or postnatal development, induces tau phosphorylation, neurodegeneration and learning deficits. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2020.561470. Rubio-Perez, J.M. and Morillas-Ruiz, J.M., 2012. A Review: Inflammatory Process in
- Rubio-Perez, J.M. and Morillas-Ruiz, J.M., 2012. A Review: Inflammatory Process in Alzheimer's Disease, Role of Cytokines. Sci World J, 2012, pp.1-15. https://doi: 10.1100/2012/756357.
- Sam, C., & Bordoni, B. (2022). Physiology, Acetylcholine. PMID: 32491757.
- Sastre, M., Walter, J., Gentleman, S.M., 2008. Interactions between APP secretases and inflammatory mediators. J. Neuroinflammation 5 (1), 25. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1742-2094-5-25.
- Scali, C., Giovannini, M.G., Prosperi, C., Bellucci, A., Pepeu, G., Casamenti, F., 2003. The selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor rofecoxib suppresses brain inflammation and protects cholinergic neurons from excitotoxic degeneration in vivo. Neuroscience 117 (4), 909–919 https://doi:10.1016/s0306-4522(02) 00839-4.
- Scharf, S., Mander, A., Ugoni, A., Vajda, F., Christophidis, N., 1999. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of diclofenac/misoprostol in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 53 (1), 197. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.53.1.197.

- Scheltens, P., De Strooper, B., Kivipelto, M., Holstege, H., Chételat, G., Teunissen, C.E., Cummings, J.L., 2021. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 397 (10284), 1577–1590. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32205-4.
- Serrano-Pozo, A., Frosch, M.P., Masliah, E., Hyman, B.T., 2011. Neuropathological alterations in alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 1 (1), a006189-a. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a006189.
- Shabab, T., Khanabdali, R., Moghadamtousi, S.Z., Kadir, H.A., Mohan, G., 2017. Neuroinflammation pathways: a general review. Int. J. Neurosci. 127 (7), 624– 633 https://doi: 10.1080/00207454.2016.1212854.
- Shukuri, M., Mawatari, A., Ohno, M., Suzuki, M., Doi, H., Watanabe, Y., Zhang, M.R., 2016. Detection of cyclooxygenase-1 in activated microglia during amyloid plaque progression: PET studies in alzheimer's disease model mice. Journal of nuclear medicine: official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine 57 (2), 291– 296 https://doi:10.2967/jnumed.115.166116.
- Soria Lopez, J.A., González, H.M., Léger, G.C., 2019. Alzheimer's disease. In 2019, 231–255 https://doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-804766-8.00013-3.
- Spagnuolo, C., Moccia, S., Russo, G.L., 2018. Anti-inflammatory effects of flavonoids in neurodegenerative disorders. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 153, 105–115 https://doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.09.001.
- Stepanichev, M., Nedogreeva, O., Gulyaeva, N., 2017. Cholinergic degeneration in early stages of Alzheimer's disease: Loss of cholinergic phenotype or loss of cells? Alzheimer's. Dement Cogn Neurol 1 (2) https://doi: 10.15761/ADCN. 1000110.
- Stuve, O., Weideman, R.A., McMahan, D.M., Jacob, D.A., Little, B.B., 2020. Diclofenac reduces the risk of Alzheimer's disease: a pilot analysis of NSAIDs in two US veteran populations. Ther. Adv. Neurol. Disord. 13, https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1756286420935676 1756286420935676.
- Swanson, K.V., Deng, M., Ting, J.-P.-Y., 2019. The NLRP3 inflammasome: molecular activation and regulation to therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 19 (8), 477–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0165-0.
- Takadera, T., Ohyashiki, T., 2006. Prevention of rat cortical neurons from prostaglandin E2-induced apoptosis by glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitors. Neurosci. Lett. 400 (1-2), 105-109 https://doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.02.014.
- Takashima, A., 2009. Amyloid-β, tau, and dementia. J. Alzheimers Dis. 17 (4), 729– 736. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2009-1090.
- Tallima, H., El Ridi, R., 2018. Arachidonic acid: Physiological roles and potential health benefits – A review. J. Adv. Res. 11, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jare.2017.11.004.
- Tan, M.-S., Yu, J.-T., Jiang, T., Zhu, X.-C., Tan, L., 2013. The NLRP3 inflammasome in Alzheimer's disease. Mol. Neurobiol. 48 (3), 875–882. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12035-013-8475-x.
- Tyagi, A., Kamal, M.A., Poddar, N.K., 2020. Integrated Pathways of COX-2 and mTOR: Roles in Cell Sensing and Alzheimer's Disease. Front. Neurosci. 14 https://doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00693.
- Umeda, T., Maekawa, S., Kimura, T., Takashima, A., Tomiyama, T., Mori, H., 2014. Neurofibrillary tangle formation by introducing wild-type human tau into APP transgenic mice. Acta Neuropathol. 127 (5), 685–698 https://doi:10.1007/ s00401-014-1259-1.
- Vecchio, I., Sorrentino, L., Paoletti, A., Marra, R., Arbitrio, M., 2021. The state of the art on acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in the treatment of alzheimer's disease. Journal of Central Nervous System Disease 13, https://doi:10.1177/ 11795735211029113 11795735211029113.
- Wainaina, M.N., Chen, Z., Zhong, C., 2014. Environmental factors in the development and progression of late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci. Bull. 30 (2), 253– 270 https://doi:10.1007/s12264-013-1425-9.
- Wang, P., Guan, P.-P., Wang, T., Yu, X., Guo, J.-J., Wang, Z.-Y., 2014. Aggravation of Alzheimer's disease due to the COX-2-mediated reciprocal regulation of IL-1β and Aβ between glial and neuron cells. Aging Cell 13 (4), 605–615 https://doi: 10.1111/acel.12209.
- Wang, Y., Guan, P.P., Yu, X., Guo, Y.S., Zhang, Y.J., Wang, Z.Y., Li, Y., 2017. COX-2 metabolic products, the prostaglandin l2 and F2α, mediate the effects of TNF-α and Zn2+ in stimulating the phosphorylation of Tau. Oncotarget 8 (59), 99296– 99311 https://doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21853.
- 99311 https://doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21853.
 Wang, Y., Tan, B., Wang, Y., Chen, Z., 2021b. Cholinergic signaling, neural excitability, and epilepsy. Molecules 26 (8), 2258 https://doi: 10.3390/molecules26082258.
- Wang, B., Wu, L., Chen, J., Dong, L., Chen, C., Wen, Z., et al., 2021a. Metabolism pathways of arachidonic acids: mechanisms and potential therapeutic targets. Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 6 (1), 94 https://doi:10.1038/s41392-020-00443-w.
- Webers, A., Heneka, M.T., Gleeson, P.A., 2020. The role of innate immune responses and neuroinflammation in amyloid accumulation and progression of Alzheimer's disease. Immunol. Cell Biol. 98 (1), 28–41 https://doi:10.1111/ imcb.12301.
- Weggen, S., Eriksen, J.L., Das, P., Sagi, S.A., Wang, R., Pietrzik, C.U., Golde, T.E., 2001. A subset of NSAIDs lower amyloidogenic Aβ42 independently of cyclooxygenase activity. Nature 414 (6860), 212–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/35102591.
- Wilkaniec, A., Gassowska-Dobrowolska, M., Strawski, M., Adamczyk, A., Czapski, G. A., 2018. Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 affects early neuroinflammatory signalling in murine model of amyloid beta toxicity. J. Neuroinflammation 15 (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-017-1027-y.
- Woodling, N.S., Colas, D., Wang, Q., Minhas, P., Panchal, M., Liang, X., et al., 2016. Cyclooxygenase inhibition targets neurons to prevent early behavioural decline in Alzheimer's disease model mice. Brain 139 (7), 2063–2081 https://doi:10. 1093/brain/aww117.

- Xiang, Z., Ho, L., Yemul, S., Zhao, Z., Pompl, P., Kelley, K., et al., 2002. Cyclooxygenase-2 promotes amyloid plaque deposition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease neuropathology. Gene Expr. 10 (5), 271–278. https://doi. org/10.3727/00000002783992352.
- Xuereb, J.H., Perry, R.H., Candy, J.M., Perry, E.K., Marshall, E., Bonham, J.R., 1991. Nerve cell loss in the thalamus in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Brain 114 (Pt 3), 1363–1379. https://doi.org/10.1093/Brain/114.3.1363.
- Yang, S.H., 2019. Cellular and molecular mediators of neuroinflammation in alzheimer disease. Int. Neurourol. J. 23 (Suppl 2), S54–S62 https://doi: 10. 5213/inj.1938184.092.
- Yermakova, A., 2001. Downregulation of neuronal cyclooxygenase-2 expression in end stage Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 22 (6), 823–836. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0197-4580(01)00303-7.
- Yermakova, A.V., Rollins, J., Callahan, L.M., Rogers, J., O'Banion, M.K., 1999. Cyclooxygenase-1 in human alzheimer and control brain: quantitative analysis of expression by microglia and ca3 hippocampal neurons. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 58 (11), 1135–1146. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00005072-199911000-00003.

- Zarghi, A., Arfaei, S., 2011. Selective COX-2 inhibitors: A review of their structureactivity relationships. Iran J. Pharm. Res. 10 (4), 655–683. PMID: 24250402; PMCID: PMC3813081.
- Zhang, F., Jiang, L., 2015. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 11, 243–256. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S75546.
- Zhang, H., Wang, X., Xu, P., Ji, X., Chi, T., Liu, P., Li, H., 2020. Tolfenamic acid inhibits GSK-3β and PP2A mediated tau hyperphosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease models. J. Physiol. Sci. 70 (1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12576-020-00757-y.
- Zhou, Q., Li, S., Li, M., Ke, D., Wang, Q., Yang, Y., et al., 2022. Human tau accumulation promotes glycogen synthase kinase-3β acetylation and thus upregulates the kinase: A vicious cycle in Alzheimer neurodegeneration. EBioMedicine 78,. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103970 103970.
- Zimmer, E.R., Leuzy, A., Benedet, A.L., Breitner, J., Gauthier, S., Rosa-Neto, P., 2014. Tracking neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: The role of positron emission tomography imaging. J. Neuroinflammation 11 (1), 120. https://doi. org/10.1186/1742-2094-11-120.